1. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PERTAINING TO 
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. Assignment of Error 

The Trial Court committed legal error by failing to follow RCW 

64.12.030 and treble the jury's $40,000 non-economic damages award to 

Appellant Leslie Pendergrast ("Pendergrast") which were found to have 

been caused by Respondent Robert Matichuk's ("Matichuk") timber 

trespass. 

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

On February 27,2014, the Trial Court entered Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law Relating to Equitable Claims and Relief ("Findings 

and Conclusions") recognizing that the jury had awarded Pendergrast 

$40,000 in "non-economic" damages that had been caused by Matichuk's 

timber trespass for her claim under RCW 64.12.030. CP 222. The Trial 

Court concluded that these damages should not be trebled under RCW 

64.12.030 based upon the following erroneous conclusion of law: "The 

Court declines to triple the non-economic damages because such a trebling 

is not specifically provided in RCW 64.12.030, which is a penal or 

punitive statute, should be interpreted and applied literally and narrowly." 

CP 237. 
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II. STA TEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case relates to Respondents' physical trespass and occupancy 

of Pendergrast's property and the corresponding removal of a cherry tree 

on Pendergrast's property, all for the purpose of Respondents to construct 

four condominium units. The limited legal issue appealed by Pendergrast 

requires recognition of only several procedural facts associated with the 

trial. I A six-person jury trial occurred on Pendergrast's two claims for 

trespass and timber trespass under RCW 64.12.030. The Trial Court 

instructed the jury as follows relating to the timber trespass claim: 

Damages for trespass and/or timber trespass include 
economic and non-economic loss that you find was 
proximately caused by the trespass and/or timber 
trespass. 

*** 

It is the duty of the Court to instruct you as to the 
measure of damages. You must determine the amount of 
money that will reasonably and fairly compensate the 
Plaintiff for those damages you find were proximately 
caused by wrongful actions of one or more of the 
Defendants. 

You should consider the following economic dan1ages: 

• If you find that one or more of the Defendants 
trespassed on the Plaintiff s property, you must 
determine which Defendants are liable on this 

1 Pendergrast anticipates providing a more detailed recitation of the evidence when she 
responds to Respondents' cross-appeal. 
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claim, and the amount of economic damage 
proximately caused by the trespass. 

• If you find that Defendant Robert Matichuk 
committed timber trespass, you must determine 
the economic damage proximately caused by that 
timber trespass. 

If you find that one or more of the Defendants committed 
trespass or timber trespass, you should also consider the 
following non-economic damages: 

• Mental anguish, emotional distress, and 
inconvenience experienced by the Plaintiff as a 
result of the trespass or timber trespass. 

The burden of proving damages rests with the party 
claiming them. It is for you to determine, based on the 
evidence, whether any particular element has been proven 
by a preponderance of the evidence. 

Your award must be based upon evidence and not upon 
speculation, guess, or conjecture. 

The law has not furnished us with any fixed standards by 
which to measure non-economic damages. Your 
decisions on these issues must be governed by your own 
judgment, by the evidence in the case, and by these 
instructions. 

CP 196 and 199-200. Respondents did not object to these, or any, jury 

instructions. 

The jury returned a special verdict form on the RCW 64.12.030 

timber trespass claim, which included the following conclusions as to 

Matichuk: 
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UMBER TRESPASS 

£.l.61li. 
QUESTION 4: 

ANSWER: 

Did Defendant Robert Matlchuk COlTVTlit a timber 
trespass upon Plaintiffs real property? 

YES J NO 

(DIRECTION: If you answered -no- to Question 4, move to the next verdict form. 
If you answered "yes· to Question 1, answer Que$llolJ8 5, 6, 7, and 8.) 

QUESTION 5: 

QUESTIONS: 

QUESTION 7: 

QUESTION 8: 

What are the economic damages resulting from the 
timber trespass? 
ANSWER: $ --,3~,~3:..1.l\ O~ ___ _ 

What are the non-economlc damages resulting from 
the tinber trespass? 
ANSWER: $ ~.OOO 

I 

Were Defendant Robert Matlchuk's actions casual 
and hwoluntary, or did Defendant Robert Matlchuk 

have probable cause to believe that the land on which 
the trespass was committed was his own? 

YES _____ _ NO_.....!.J __ _ 

Did Defendant Robert Matichuk know, or have reason 
to know that he lacked authorization to cut the tree? 

YES __ J-=--__ NO ____ _ 

CP 204-05. Pendergrast thereafter sought entry of a final judgment which 

included trebling of the non-economic damages found to have been caused 

by Matichuk's timber trespass. CP 211. 

Matichuk did not file any written objection to this request and 

never provided any written opposition to the trebling of non-economic 

damages caused by his timber trespass. Nonetheless, the Trial Court 
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refused to treble these damages,2 based upon the singular legal conclusion 

that: "The Court declines to triple the non-economic damages because 

such a trebling is not specifically provided in RCW 64.12.030, which is a 

penal or punitive statute, should be interpreted and applied literally and 

narrowly." CP 237. 

III. ARGUMENT 

The only issue on appeal is the proper interpretation of RCW 

64.12.030. Construction of a statute is a question of law, State v. Wentz, 

149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003) (citing City of Pasco v. Pub. 

Employment Relations Comm'n, 119 Wn.2d 504, 507, 833 P.2d 381 

(1992)), and therefore subject to de novo reView. 

64. 12.030provides as follows: 

Whenever any person shall cut down, girdle, or otherwise 
injure, or carry off any tree, including a Christmas tree as 
defined in RCW 76.48.020, timber, or shrub on the land 
of another person, or on the street or highway in front of 
any person's house, city or town lot, or cultivated 
grounds, or on the commons or public grounds of any city 
or town, or on the street or highway in front thereof, 
without lawful authority, in an action by the person, city, 
or town against the person committing the trespasses or 
any of them, any judgment for the plaintiff shall be for 
treble the amount of damages claimed or assessed. 

RCW 

2 The Trial Court did treble the economic damages award of $3,310. CP 237 and 242. 
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(Emphasis added). Although RCW 64.12.040 provides an opportunity for 

a trespassing party to avoid trebling of damages where he/she can prove 

that the trespass was "casual and involuntary" or otherwise reasonable, 

and not "willful," this exception is not pertinent to this appeal, as the jury 

concluded as a matter of fact that this exception did not apply. CP 204-05. 

Thus, the only question for this appeal is whether or not the Trial 

Court erred in concluding that the statutory language in RCW 64.12.030 

did not require trebling of the awarded non-economic damages because it 

was not specifically provided in the statute. In evaluating the proper 

statutory interpretation, this Court must abide by a host of relevant rules of 

statutory construction, some of which were violated by the Trial Court: 

First, in interpreting a statute, the Court must discern and 

implement the legislature'S intent. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444, 

450,69 P.3d 318 (2003) (citing Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. 

Riveland, 138 Wn.2d 9, 19,978 P.2d 481 (1999)). 

If a statute's meaning is plain, then the Court must effectuate it as 

an expression of the legislature's intent. State v. Villanueva, 177 

Wn.App. 251, 254, 311 P.3d 79 (2013). 

As a remedial statute, RCW 64.12.030 must be interpreted 

"liberally when necessary to effectuate its purpose." State v. 
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Villanueva, supra, 177 Wn.App. at 257 (citations omitted). 

Indeed, because it is a remedial statute, liberal construction is 

"commanded." Vogt v. Seattle-First National Bank, 117 Wn.2d 

541, 552, 817 P.2d 1364 (1991) (interpreting Consumer Protection 

Act). 

"Neither a liberal construction nor a strict construction may be 

employed to defeat the intent of the legislature, as discerned 

through traditional processes of statutory interpretation." Estate of 

Bunch v. McGraw Residential Center, 174 Wn. 2d 425, 432, 275 

P.3d 1119 (2012). 

The spirit or purpose of an enactment should prevail over express 

but inept wording, and absurd stained or unlikely consequences 

must be avoided. Alderwood Water Dist. v. Pope & Talbot, Inc., 

62 Wn.2d 319, 321, 382 P.2d 639 (1963); State v. Villanueva, 

supra, 177 Wn.App. at 256. 

In reviewing statutes, "it is always safer not to add to, or subtract 

from, the language of the statute unless imperatively required to 

make it a rational statute." Applied Indus. Materials Corp. v. 

Melton, 74 Wn.App. 73, 79, 872 P.2d 87 (1994). In other words, 

courts "cannot add words to an unambiguous statute when the 
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legislature has not included the language.',3 Greenhalgh v. 

Department of Corrections, 324 P.3d 771, 775, Wn.App. Div. 2 

(2014) (citation omitted). N or is it the court's "function nor 

prerogative to modify legislative enactments .. ,," Department of 

Labor and Industries v. Dillon, 28 Wn.App. 853, 857, 626 P.2d 

1004 (1981 ) (citation omitted). 

Here, the word "damages" is a common and familiar legal term, 

and therefore must be "given its familiar legal meaning." Rasor v. 

Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 530, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976) 

(citation omitted). 

Applying these basic rules results in only one simple and proper 

legal conclusion: All damages awarded as being caused by a timber 

trespass must be trebled. Certainly, such an interpretation is compelled by 

the plain language of the statute where it requires that "any judgment for 

the plaintiff shall be for treble the amount of damages claimed or 

assessed." The legislative mandate could not be clearer and that is to 

simply treble any damages assessed for a timber trespass. Or, as already 

recognized by the Washington State Supreme Court, the statute applies to 

"damages resulting from the cutting or destruction of trees, timber or 

3 The Trial Court did not find RCW 64.12.030 to be ambiguous, nor did Matichuk ever 
argue as such below. That is because it is not ambiguous. 
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shrubs." Nystrand v. O'Malley, 60 Wn.2d 792, 796, 375 P.2d 863 (1962) 

(citations omitted). 

The damages assessed for and caused by the timber trespass of 

Matichuk were found by the jury to include $3,310 in economic damages 

and $40,000 for non-economic damages. The legislature'S use ofthe word 

"damages" without qualification in RCW 64.12.030 could not be clearer: 

It intended that all damages assessed for a timber trespass claim be 

trebled, including in this case the non-economic damages.4 

Such a statutory interpretation is in harmony with the principal rule 

of statutory construction, which is to discern and implement the 

legislature'S intent. State v. J.P., supra, 149 Wn.2d at 450. The overall 

purpose of allowing enhanced damages under the statute is "to punish 

trespassers, to prevent careless or intentional removal of trees and 

vegetation from property, and to roughly compensate landowners for their 

losses." Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., 133 Wn.2d 106, 111, 942 

P .2d 968 (1997). Such is accomplished by interpreting the term 

"damages" to include all categories of damages caused by a timber 

trespass, including non-economic damages. Shahi v. Madden, 949 A.2d 

4 Pendergrast and Trial Court were careful to segregate the damages caused by the timber 
trespass, and therefore subject to trebling, by having separate jury verdict forms for the 
timber trespass claim and the trespass claim. Thus, the lack of segregation issues 
presented in Nystrand v. O'Malley, supra, 60 Wn.2d 792 is not present here. 
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1022, 1032 (S.Ct. Vt. 2008). ("We have long ruled that the treble

damages provision [in Vermont timber trespass statute] furthers the 

purpose of fully compensating wronged parties - a primary purpose of § 

3606.") 

Such an intent by the legislature is further supported by use of the 

non-distinguishing and clear word "damages" to describe the amounts that 

are to be trebled. State v. Villanueva, supra, 177 Wn.App. at 254 (if a 

statute's meaning is plain, court must effectuate it as an expression of the 

legislature's intent). The legislature could have added a qualifier to the 

word "damages" to mean only economic damages, but it did not. 

Moreover, a broad interpretation resulting in trebling of all categories of 

damages is compelled by the obligation of the Court to liberally construe 

this remedial statute to effectuate its purpose to punish, and to 

compensate. Id. at 257. 

Such a result is also forthcoming based upon the uncontested jury 

instruction in this case which identified that "Damages for trespass and/or 

timber trespass include economic and non-economic loss that you find was 

proximately caused by the trespass and/or timber trespass." CP 196 

(emphasis added). By this definition, Matichuk is precluded from arguing 
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that the word "damages" can be differentiated between economic and non

economic for purposes of trebling under RCW 64.12.030. 

Trebling of non-economic damages caused by a timber trespass is 

equally supported by the familiar and common meaning of the legal term 

"damages." Under Black's Law Dictionary, "damages" means a 

"pecuniary compensation or indemnity, which may be recovered in the 

courts by any person who has suffered loss, detriment, or injury, whether 

to his person, property, or rights, through the unlawful act or omission or 

negligence of another." Black's Law Dictionary (Revised Fourth Edition, 

1968). See Greenhalgh v. Department of Corrections, supra (uses Black's 

Law Dictionary to assist in interpreting familiar legal term in statute). The 

term "damages" includes all categories of recovery, and the use of this 

singular word to identify the amount to be trebled should be given its 

familiar meaning. State v. Barnett, 36 Wn.App. 560, 562, 675 P.2d 626 

(1984) (gives word "damage" its usual and ordinary meaning in RCW 

9.92.060 to include insurance payments for burglary). 

The Trial Court's tortured interpretation excluding non-economic 

damages from the definition of "damages" conflicts with a host of rules of 

construction. Most importantly, the Trial Court's interpretation 

necessarily required it to improperly read into the statute words which are 
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not there, and to modify the statutory language. Coughlin v. City of 

Seattle, 18 Wn.App. 285,289,567 P.2d 262 (1977); Department of Labor 

and Industries v. Dillon, supra, 28 Wn.App. at 857. In order to reach its 

"interpretation," the Trial Court rewrote the pertinent statute to include the 

following underlined word into the statutory language: "in an action by 

the person, city, or town against the person committing the trespasses or 

any of them, any judgment for the plaintiff shall be for treble the amount 

of economic damages claimed or assessed." There is nothing to support 

inclusion of this restriction, and to do so was inappropriate. 

The Trial Court attempted to justify its improper rewriting of the 

statute by declaring that the provision needed to be "literally and 

narrowly" interpreted because it was "penal or punitive." Initially, a 

"literal" interpretation of the statute would lead to trebling of all 

"damages" caused by a timber trespass. 

Equally important, it is questionable whether this civil statute is 

"penal," as it imposes no criminal liability and is not a function of a 

criminal process. State v. Barnett, supra, 36 Wn.App. at 562 (restitution 

statute, RCW 9.92.060, is remedial, whereas, the restitution provision in 

RCW 9A.20.030 that is in lieu of a criminal fine is penal). 
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Nonetheless, even if penal or punitive, such statutes are construed 

"according to the plain meaning of their words to assure that citizens have 

adequate notice of the terms oflaw ... . " State v. Enloe, 47 Wn.App. 165, 

171,734 P.2d 520 (1987) (emphasis in original). In this, "we do not read 

into a statute matters which are not there, nor do we modify a statute by 

construction or read into the statute things we may conceive that the 

Legislature unintentionally left out." State v. Hursh, 77 Wn.App. 242, 

246, 890 P.2d 1066 (1995) (citations omitted). Thus, the Trial Court erred 

in adding the qualifier "economic" to damages, even under its incorrect 

categorization. 

The most compelling support for an interpretation of the word 

"damages" as including non-economic damages, and proof of the Trial 

Court's erroneous distinction, is the analysis and ruling in Birchler v. 

Castello Land Co., Inc., supra, 133 Wn.2d. In Birchler, the trial court 

ruled that emotional distress damages could be awarded on a timber 

trespass claim under RCW 64.12.030, and on appeal, Division One 

agreed. However, in doing so, the Court of Appeals concluded that they 

were recoverable as "segregated" and "distinct" components of damages 

from the "statutory treble damages" award: 
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Here, the additional damages were emotional distress 
damages caused by the removal of the vegetation. Such 
damages cannot be fairly characterized as 'a customary 
by-product' of removing vegetation because they are 
unique to the values and sensitivities of the property 
owner. These damages were also segregated from 
restoration costs through special interrogatories and 
special verdict forms and were not trebled with the 
restoration costs. 

* * * 

Moreover, statutory treble damages awarded under the 
statute are intended to punish the voluntary offender and 
to discourage a person from carelessly or intentionally 
removing another's shrubs or trees on the gamble that the 
enterprise may be profitable if only normal damages are 
incurred. That purpose is unrelated to the purpose of 
awarding emotional distress damages one may plead, 
prove, and segregate at trial in situations such as these. 
Unlike damages that compensate for diminished value to 
property, emotional distress damages provide 
compensation for injury to the person. The trial court did 
not err by permitting the jury to award Owners emotional 
distress damages in addition to the statutory treble 
damages. 

Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., 81 Wn.App. 603, 608-09, 915 P.2d 

564 (1996). 

On appeal, the Supreme Court first recognized that in deciding 

whether emotional distress damages were recoverable under RCW 

64.12.030, it was specifically not deciding whether such damages, if 
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allowed, would be trebled because the issue had not been properly raised 

on appeal: 

Although counsel for the homeowners suggested in oral 
argument that the emotional distress damages award 
should have been trebled, we do not reach that issue as 
the homeowners did not seek cross-review on that issue 
in the Court of Appeals, RAP 2.4(a), nor did they raise 
the issue in their Answer to the Petition for Review. RAP 
13.4(d). 

Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., supra, 133 Wn.2d at 110, n. 3. 

However, and importantly, the Supreme Court, in affirming the ability to 

recover emotional distress damages, made it clear that such damages were 

not "distinct" from the statutory trebled damages as noted by the Court of 

Appeals, but instead awardable as "damages" recoverable under the 

statute. 

The Supreme Court first noted that courts had historically 

interpreted the "damages" recoverable and subject to trebling under the 

statute narrowly: 

RCW 64.12.030 does not precisely articulate the damages 
that are subject to trebling, indicating only that punitive 
damages are available '[ w ]henever any person shall cut 
down, girdle or otherwise injure, or carry off any tree, 
timber or shrub ... ' Our cases have generally confined the 
treble damages remedy to injury to, or removal of, 
vegetation, although the measure of damages has varied 
by the type of vegetation affected. 
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Id. at 111. It then defined the issue as whether "emotional distress 

damages are recoverable under RCW 64.12.030." Id. at 112. Importantly, 

in evaluating this issue, the court first concluded that "damages under 

RCW 64.12.030 are not confined exclusively to injury to or destruction of 

vegetation," and thus it turned to the question of "whether emotional 

distress damages are recoverable under RCW 64.12.030 for a trespass." 

Id. at 115. 

In concluding that such damages were recoverable, the Supreme 

Court rejected the exact same "lack of specificity" logic utilized by the 

Trial Court to conclude that non-economic damages were not subject to 

trebling:

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