Washington State Court of Appeals

Division One



Docket No. 71726-0-I

LESLIE PENDERGRAST,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

**ROBERT MATICHUK and JANE DOE MATICHUK,
husband and wife, et al.,**

Defendants-Respondents.

RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Bryan D. Lane, WSBA No. 18246
*Attorney for Defendants/Respondents
Matichuk and Blaine Properties LLC*
114 W. Magnolia St., Fourth Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 647-5163

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2011 SEP 08 PM 11:20

ORIGINAL

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

C. Argument

This case pertains to the ownership of a disputed strip of land between two adjoining parcels in Blaine, Whatcom County, Washington. The trial court ruled that plaintiff Pendergrast owned the property by operation of law under the “boundary by common grantor” doctrine. The court then heard a trial on plaintiff’s damages associated with defendants’ prior “trespass” into that property, involving both use of the land and removal of a single tree.

As argued below, the court should reverse the decision of the trial court awarding the disputed property to Pendergrast. Should the court affirm the trial court’s summary judgment order, the court of appeals should still reverse the trial court’s refusal to grant a new trial on the award of plaintiff’s non-economic damages. The damages awarded were grossly disproportional to the economic harm Pendergrast suffered. Moreover, the record was replete with testimony of stressful situations separate from the actions of defendant which explained plaintiff’s alleged emotional state at the time. There was no causal connection between defendants’ trespass, the removal of the fence and tree, and plaintiff’s claimed injuries.

Finally, to the extent the court determines Pendergrast owns the disputed property, the court should decline plaintiff’s invitation to treble plaintiff’s emotional distress damages. No cases require trebling of those damages. To do so would greatly expand the reach of the timber trespass statute. Courts are required to interpret the timber trespass statute narrowly. This court should affirm the trial court’s more narrow interpretation of the timber trespass statute.

1. The Trial Court Erred in Concluding that Plaintiff Had a Legal Right to the Disputed Property Under the Doctrine of Boundary By Common Grantor.

A. Standards on Summary Judgment.

The Whatcom County Superior Court entered summary judgment in this case on plaintiff's theory of boundary by common grantor. [CP 84 (order); CP 225 (Finding of Fact 5 incorporating prior order); CP 231 (Conclusion of Law 3 incorporating prior order)] This court reviews an order of summary judgment *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

Those standards for entry of summary judgment are well settled. Summary judgment is appropriate only "when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Marincovich v. Tarabochia, 114 Wn.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990); CR 56(c). "A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends in whole or in part." Atherton Condominium Apartment Owners Ass'n v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). The court must review the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and the motion should be granted only if, from all of the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. Sedwick v. Gwinn, 73 Wn. App. 879, 885, 873 P.2d 258 (1994) quoting Marincovich, 114 Wn.2d at 274. Said differently, the court must examine the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Weatherbee v. Gustafson, 64 Wn. App. 128, 131, 822 P.2d 1257 (1992). A court weighing a summary judgment motion must place the emphasis on facts, and regard a fact as "an event, an occurrence, or something that exists in reality." Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988).

These standards on summary judgment are critical to disposition of this case. As shown herein, there were no facts in the record from which the trial court could conclude, as a matter of law, that plaintiff Pendergrast was entitled to the disputed strip of land wholly within defendants Matichuk's deeded property. The trial court based its decision by inferring facts that simply were not there. The trial court was required to resolve any such inferences of fact in favor of the Matichuks, and not Pendergrast. The trial court's order should be vacated, and either the case remanded for a new trial, or for entry of an order of dismissal on all of Pendergrast's claims.

B. The Boundary By Common Grantor Doctrine Should Not Apply.

It is undisputed that the disputed area at issue in this case was within the property owned by Matichuks, as provided by the legal description contained in their deed, and as confirmed by survey. Generally, a bona fide purchaser of real property is entitled to rely on record title. Levien v. Fiala, 79 Wn. App. 294, 299-300, 902 P.2d 170 (1995). If the law were otherwise, it would impose an almost impossible burden upon a party in that each and every conveyance would have to be investigated beyond the auditor's records for possible error to avoid a claim of inquiry notice. This would destroy the strength of our recording system and any justifiable reliance on it. *Id.*

Despite the fact that defendants are record owners of the "disputed property," plaintiff claimed ownership of it based on two legal theories: (1) property line location established by "common grantor;" and (2) boundary by "parol agreement." Though distinct, the two theories are similar, such that the only way that plaintiff could prevail in this case would be to prove that the boundary between the Pendergrast and Matichuk properties was established through some sort of an agreement with the original grantor, or by some affirmative act of that original grantor. In the trial court, plaintiff's claim based on a "boundary by parol agreement" was dismissed as a matter of law,

because the court found no evidence of an agreement between the grantor of the parcels and either of the subsequent purchasers. [CP 81-83] Indeed, there is no evidence in the record that either party had even met the seller of the properties prior to their respective purchases.

Despite the fact that there is no evidence of any interaction between the seller and either of the two buyers during sale, and despite the fact that none of the sale paperwork for either transaction in any way references the fence at issue, the trial court granted Pendergrast ownership of the disputed property on summary judgment, applying the “boundary by common grantor” doctrine as a matter of law. This was error. Just as there was no evidence to support a boundary by agreement, so was there no evidence to support establishment of the boundary by the common grantor.

The common grantor doctrine has been explained as follows:

A practical location made by the common grantor of the division line between the tracts granted is binding on the grantees who take with reference to that boundary. The line established in that manner is presumably the line mentioned in the deed, and no lapse of time is necessary to establish such location, which does not rest on acquiescence in an erroneous boundary, but on the fact that the true location was made, the conveyance in reference to it. However, for a boundary line established by common grantor to become binding and conclusive on grantees it must plainly appear that the land was sold and purchased with reference to such line, and that there was a meeting of minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale. (Emphasis supplied)

Levien v. Fiala, 79 Wn. App. 294, 301 n.3, 902 P.2d 170 (1995); Thompson v. Bain, 28 Wn.2d 590, 591-92, 183 P.2d 785 (1947); Strom v. Arcorace, 27 Wn.2d 478, 481, 178 P.2d 959 (1947).

Under this principle, a grantor who owns land on both sides of a line he or she has established as the common boundary is bound by that line. Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn. App. 156, 589 P.2d 273 (1978). The line is also binding on grantees if the land was sold and purchased

with reference to the line, and there was a meeting of the minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale. Kronawetter v. Tomoshan, Inc., 14 Wn. App. 820, 545 P.2d 1230 (1976).

It is unclear to what standard of proof a proponent of a boundary by common grantor should be held. Related boundary dispute doctrines hold that a proponent of a boundary is held to a clear and convincing standard of proof. *See, e.g.,* Thomas v Harlan, 27 Wn.2d 512, 518, 178 P.2d 965 (1947) (fixing a boundary by estoppel requires clear and convincing evidence because title to real property is a most valuable right); Heriot v. Smith, 35 Wn. App. 496, 504, 668 P.2d 589 (1983) (boundary by mutual acquiescence must be shown by clear and convincing evidence); Keierleber v. Botting, 77 Wn.2d 711, 715, 466 P.2d 141 (1970) (evidence to reform deed based on mutual mistake must be clear and convincing). The purpose of the boundary by common grantor doctrine is similar to these other doctrines. In all instances, the plaintiff is seeking to create a property interest outside of the normal deed procedure, and must overcome the dictates of the statute of frauds in doing so. A proponent of such a boundary should be held to a clear and convincing standard of proof.

No matter what standard of proof applies in this case, plaintiff cannot meet it. There are no facts in this record which would establish that the fence line is the boundary between the parties' parcels under this standard. First, there is absolutely no evidence that the common grantor ever established a boundary line different from the deeded boundary. There is absolutely no reference to the fence line in the deed conveying Pendergrast's parcel to her [CP 319-322], and there is absolutely no reference to the fence line in the deed conveying the Matichuks' property to them [CP 323-326]. Moreover, the Matichuk deed provided a specific physical dimension of the property being conveyed. Similarly, there is no evidence that there was ever an agreement between Conine, and either Matichuk or Pendergrast, to move the boundary in any way. In fact, neither Matichuk nor

Pendergrast had ever met the Conines before the purchases of their respective parcels. [See CP 329-330 (Pendergrast response to discovery)].

Thus, there is nothing in the paperwork for either sales transaction which makes any reference to the alleged fence line as the boundary between the two parcels. There is no evidence of any formal or specific agreement about the boundary. Therefore, there was no “reference to the boundary” *at the time of sale* which would make the boundary by common grantor doctrine applicable. See Fiala, 79 Wn. App. at 301; Strom, 27 Wn. App. at 481.

Nor is there any evidence that when Matichuk and Pendergrast subsequently owned the parcels, they acted in a way to suggest that they agreed that the fence was the boundary. To the contrary, Matichuk informed Pendergrast of his intention to remove the fence and move it to the deeded property line. In response, Pendergrast wrote to Conine, and demanded financial compensation. [CP 339-40] *The letter did not claim the existence of an agreement to move the boundary; instead Pendergrast claimed to have been deceived by the seller.* Under these circumstances, there is absolutely nothing in the record to support plaintiff’s claim under the common grantor doctrine.

The trial court relied upon Winans v. Ross, 35 Wn. App. 238, 240, 666 P.2d 908 (1983), in applying the common grantor doctrine in this case. Winans determined that a boundary agreement entered into by property owners is binding on subsequent purchasers, even if that agreement was not a formal contract. The Winans court ruled that “a meeting of the minds between the common grantor and original grantee may be shown by the parties’ manifestations of ownership after the sale.” Winans, 35 Wn. App. at 241. In trial of the Winans case, the trial court found as fact that the properties were purchased with reference to the fence line. *Id.* at 240. Moreover, the court found

“substantial evidence” that an agreement existed between the grantor and the original grantee, based on the rebuilding of a fence in the exact location, and a tenant asking permission to use a pond on the other side of the fence line for irrigation. The court then enforced the boundary agreement on Ross, a subsequent purchaser.

The trial court here purported to apply *Ross*, ruling that, because the Matichuks took no action to remove the fence during the brief period of time (between April 25 and September 18, 2006, a period of less than five months) in which they owned their vacant, undeveloped parcel and Conine still owned the adjoining Pendergrast parcel, there was a “meeting of the minds” between Matichuk and Conine *as a matter of law* that the fence line formed the boundary between them.

The court erred in that conclusion in several respects. First, *at best* Matichuks’ failure to immediately remove the fence at purchase, with nothing more, creates only an *inference* of an agreement between Matichuk and Conine, and is not actual proof of one. The Matichuks are entitled to have all inferences of fact resolved in their favor. Weatherbee, 64 Wn. App. at 131. It was error for the trial court to grant summary judgment on an inference alone. There are no facts supporting the trial court’s ruling. At best, there are material issues of fact about the existence of an agreement that would need to be resolved in a trial.

Second, the “inference” the trial court relied upon is contrary to the factual evidence presented in the record. Nothing in the property deed conveying the property to the Matichuks mentions the fence line. The Matichuks never discussed the purchase transaction with their sellers, the Conines. There is nothing in the record to suggest that the Matichuks were informed that there was an agreement establishing a boundary at the fence line. Indeed, Matichuk testified that the purchase was made based on the property dimensions described in the deed, and he paced off those

dimensions before purchase. [CP 53] Moreover, during that five month period, the Matichuk parcel was vacant and undeveloped; there was no use of the property during that time which would suggest that the fence line was being respected. Thus, there were no facts upon which the court could find a “meeting of the minds” between Matichuk and Conine, The record is certainly insufficient to make that ruling as a matter of law.

Third, the inference is inconsistent with Pendergrast’s own statements after the fact. When Matichuk informed Pendergrast of his intention of remove the fence, Pendergrast wrote to the seller Conine, not to demand that any boundary line agreement be enforced, but instead to demand financial compensation for an alleged misrepresentation. [CP 339-40] Pendergrast was certainly not acting under a belief of an agreement concerning the fence when she wrote that letter. Even her letter to Matichuk claiming rights to the disputed property merely establishes a dispute between the parties. It in no way establishes the conclusive proof of an agreement necessary to win on summary judgment. Under these circumstances, there is absolutely nothing in the record to support an “inference” of an agreement between the common grantor and Matichuk sufficient to apply the common grantor doctrine as a matter of law.

Reduced to its essence, the trial court’s ruling concluded that the mere existence of the fence, coupled with use of the fence line as the boundary for a short period (when one of the lots was undeveloped and vacant), is enough to create a boundary by the common grantor. By definition, the boundary by common grantor doctrine requires more: evidence of an actual “meeting of the minds” to move the line from the deed location to another location. That agreement does not exist in this case. This court should reverse the order on summary judgment and either dismiss plaintiff’s claims outright or remand for a trial.

2. Defendants Are Entitled To Costs and Attorney's Fees on Remand.

This court should conclude that the trial court's ruling on boundary by common grantor be reversed, and that plaintiff's cause of action be dismissed, because plaintiff had no actionable interest in the Matichuks' property. Upon remand, defendants should be entitled to an award of costs and attorney's fees for plaintiff's clouding of Matichuks' title with a lis pendens. RCW 4.28.328(3). For purposes of the statute, a claimant lacks substantial justification for filing a lis pendens if there is no evidence that the claimant had a legal right to the property. Richau v. Rayner, 98 Wn. App. 190, 198, 988 P.2d 1052 (1999).

Pendergrast will likely contend that attorney's fees are not awardable in this case because she had control over the disputed area for three years, and a "belief" that the property belonged to her. Her use of the property based on her own subjective belief that she owned it does not rise to the level of a legal right to the property. Rayner, 98 Wn. App. at 198. As shown herein, at no time did plaintiff have a legal right to the disputed area. Accordingly, defendants are entitled to reasonable attorney's fees for defending against the lis pendens, which plaintiff used to cloud title during the pendency of this action.

3. The Trial Court Should Have Granted Defendants A New Trial On The Excessive Non-Economic Damages Awarded By the Jury.

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